I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVANI A
AARON W LLI ANB,
Plaintiff, : ClVIL ACTI ON
Vs, : No. 09- cv- 0781
GUARD BRYANT FI ELDS, BARRY JONES,
SERGEANT COATES, GUARD HUGHES,
O/ O LACKEY, LOU S G ORLA,
PRI SON HEALTH SERVI CES, and
G TY OF PH LADELPHI A

Def endant s.

Menor andum and O der

Joyner, J. Cct ober 27, 2009
Presently before the Court is Prison Health Service's Mtion

for Summary Judgment (Doc. No. 20), Plaintiff’s Response in

Qpposition (Doc. No. 26) and Defendant’s Reply thereto (Doc. 29).

For the reasons set forth below, the Court grants the Mbtion.

Backgr ound

Plaintiff Aaron WIllianms, a state prisoner proceeding pro se, alleges
in his Conplaint that he did not receive proper nedical treatnent
for injuries he received while he was incarcerated at the

Phi | adel phia Detention Center (“PDC). (Conpl., T 6-8.)

Plaintiff alleges that when he was incarcerated on January 23,



2008, he inforned Defendant Prison Health Services (“PHS’) that
hi s neck had been fractured in 2007 and requested a neck brace.
(Ex. 1, PHS s Progress Notes.) Plaintiff avers that he conpl ai ned
to PHS four tines about neck pain (Ex. 3, Sick Call Requests),
but was not exami ned or treated for his injury until he filed a
grievance on May 6, 2008. (Ex. 4, Inmate Gievance Form)
Plaintiff purports to have been subject to an incident of
excessive use of force where he received a cut to his forehead,
fractured nose, cuts to the inside of his nmouth, and injury to
his elbow. (Pl.’s Conpl., § 18-24.) Plaintiff alleges that he
was denied treatnment for his fractured nose (1d. at § 28-30.) and
that despite the doctor’s order for x-rays on June 9, 2008, the
X-ray was not received until after Plaintiff submtted a sick
call request on June 30. (Ex. 7, Physician’s Orders.) He further
al | eges that he was adm ni stered Percogesic during his doctor’s
visit, which was prescribed to Plaintiff for continued use by the
attendi ng physician (ld.), but the Percogesic was never
provided.' (See Ex. 8, Medication Charting Sheets.)

On June 30, 2008, after x-rays revealed that his neck and
nose were fractured, Plaintiff filed a grievance agai nst PHS for

failing to provide the prescribed Percogesic. (Ex. 9, Inmate

! The Phil adel phia Prisons Policies and Procedures dictates that
prescriptions and referrals will be honored unl ess overridden by a senior
physician for valid reasons.



Grievance Form) Plaintiff contends that in response to this
filing, the Acting Health Service Adm nistrator for PHS, Mureen
Heaney, falsely stated that Plaintiff had not suffered any
fractures and that Tyl enol was available at the conm ssary for
purchase by inmates. (Ex. 10, Finding of the Inmate Gi evance.)
In an appeal to Defendant G orla, Comm ssioner of PHS, it was
acknow edged by the Chief of Medical Operations for PHS, that
Plaintiff had suffered the injuries conplained of, but Defendant
G orla denied the appeal and advised the Plaintiff to get Tyl eno
fromthe commssary. (Ex. 11, Gievance Appeal Response.)
Plaintiff commenced this civil rights action on February 20,
2009, pursuant to 42 U S.C. 8§ 1983. (Ex. 1, Pl’'s Conpl.)
Plaintiff contends that two of PHS s policies violate his
Fourteenth Amendnent right to adequate nedical care. First, he
argues that PHS has a policy of only treating visible injuries,
which is why PHS did not provide care for his neck. Second,
Plaintiff clainms that PHS has a policy of requiring inmates to
pur chase over-the-counter pain nedication fromthe comm ssary
whi ch prevented Plaintiff, who was indigent, from purchasing the
medi cati on because he was indigent. (Conpl., 15-16.) 1In
response, PHS contends that it is not |iable, both because it
does not have a policy of only treating visible injuries and

because the policy requiring inmates to purchase over-the-counter



medi cation is established by the City of Philadel phia and not by
PHS.

St andard of Revi ew

Summary judgnent is proper “if there is no genuine issue as
to any material fact and the noving party is entitled to judgnment
as a matter of law” Fed. R GCv. P. 56(c). An issue is genuine
only if there is a sufficient evidentiary basis on which a
reasonable jury could find for the non-noving party, and a
factual dispute is material only if it mght affect the outcone

of the suit under governing |law. Kaucher v. County of Bucks, 456

F.3d 418, 423 (3d Cir. 2006) (citing Anderson v. Liberty Lobby,

Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). In conducting our review, we
view the record in the light nost favorable to the non-noving
party and draw all reasonable inferences in their favor. See

Nicini v. Mrra, 212 F.3d 798, 806 (3d Cr. 2000). | f the non-

nmovi ng party bears the burden of persuasion at trial, “the noving
party may neet its burden on sunmary judgnment by show ng that the
nonnovi ng party's evidence is insufficient to carry that burden.”

Id. (quoting Wetzel v. Tucker, 139 F.3d 380, 383 n. 2 (3d Cr.

1998)). A non-noving party, in turn, has created a genui ne issue
of material fact if it has provided sufficient evidence to allow

a jury to find in its favor at trial. G eason v. Norwest

Mortgage, Inc., 243 F.3d 130, 138 (3d G r. 2001).




Di scussi on

Plaintiff’s allegation that PHS has a policy of only
treating visible injuries fails to create a genuine issue of fact
to survive Summary Judgnent. It is an undisputed fact that the
Plaintiff in fact received nedical attention for his alleged
injuries. See Prison Medical Records. PHS has submtted that
the Confidential Medical Screening Form which asks questions
pertaining to non-visible injuries, and a formentitled Adm ssion
Data of Plaintiff’s Health that is conpleted during intake, which
al so inquires into non-visible injuries. The fact that PHS
ordered x-rays to |l ook for non-visible injuries discredits any
argunent that a policy of treating only visible injuries exists.
Since Plaintiff has not established that PHS has a policy of only
treating visible injuries, we need not address whether a
constitutional violation occurred.

Next we look to Plaintiff’'s claimregarding PHS s failure
to fill the nedication prescribed to him Plaintiff’s
prescription was not filled and he was told to purchase an over-
t he-counter nedication which is substantially simlar to that
prescribed. Plaintiff clains that he was unable to purchase the
over -t he-counter equival ent because he is indigent and failing to
provi de the proscribed version was the result of a PHS policy

whi ch violated his constitutional right to nmedical care. PHS



does not dispute that there is a policy requiring inmates to pay
for over-the-counter nmedication. This policy is established by
the Gty of Philadel phia, not PHS. See Def’s Reply Bf. in
Support of Summary Judgnent, at 3-4. The Cty of Philadel phia s
Prisons Policies and Procedures guide distinguishes between
“conveni ence care” and necessary nedication. “Conveni ence care”
is defined as “health care requested by an inmate, that does not
require treatnent by a QHCP (Qualified Health Care Professional);
for exanple, standard treatnments for self-limted conditions such
as mld dandruff and mld acne.” (See Def’'s Mem in Support of
MID, Ex 1.) Inmates nust pay for convenience care which is
avai |l abl e for purchase over-the-counter at the conm ssary. See
Phi | adel phia Prison Policies & Procedures, Ex 1. The City of
Phi | adel phia has a second policy applicable to the instant case
whi ch states that “prescriptions and referrals will be honored
unl ess overridden by a senior physician for valid reasons.” |[|d.
The nedication prescribed to the Plaintiff appears to be
substantially simlar to that which is available to i nmates for
pur chase over-the-counter. See Philadel phia Prisons Policies &
Procedures, Ex 1.

Even though a PHS enpl oyee may have violated Plaintiff’'s
constitutional rights, the actions of individual PHS enpl oyees

nmust be attributable to a relevant PHS policy or customin order



for liability to attach to PHS. See Bd. of County Commirs of

Bryan County, Oklahoma v. Brown, 520 U.S. 397, 404 (1997).

Gven that Plaintiff fails to show that PHS had a rel evant policy
or custom of denying prescription nedications for inmtes; we
decline to determ ne whether this individual circunstance of
failing to provide Plaintiff wth the prescribed nedication
amounted to a constitutional violation. "To establish a claim
under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983, plaintiffs nust denonstrate a violation
of a right protected by the Constitution or the laws of the
United States commtted by a person acting under the col or of
state law." Natale, 318 F.3d at 580-81. A private corporation
acting under color of state |aw can properly be sued under 8§

1983. Mnell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs., 436 U S. 658, 690 (1978).

This liability, however, cannot rest solely on the basis of
respondeat superior. |If the plaintiff chooses to sue the
overarching entity rather than the individuals directly
responsi ble for his harm he nust show that the defendant had a
policy or customthat caused the constitutional violation.

Natal e, 318 F.3d at 583-84. For purposes of § 1983, a policy
requires a formal proclamation froma person with final authority
on the matter. 1d. at 584. A custom on the other hand, does
not require formality, but nmust be “so w despread as to have the

force of law.” Bd. of the County Commirs v. Brown, 520 U.S. 397




404 (1997).

The Third Crcuit has recogni zed three scenari os where an
enpl oyee’ s acts nay be attributable to a policy or custom of the
governnmental entity for whomthe enployee works. First, where
the enpl oyee’s act is sinply an inplenentation of the entity’s
policy; second, where no official rule has been announced as
policy but federal |aw has been violated by an act of the
policymaker itself; and third, where the policymker has failed
to act affirmatively to control its agents where it is so
obvi ous, and the inadequacy of the existing practice is so likely
toresult in the violation of constitutional rights that the
pol i cymaker can reasonably be said to have been deliberately
indifferent. Natale, 318 F.3d at 584.

The failure to supply the prescribed nmedication in this
specific instance involves the interpretation of the Cty of
Phi | adel phia’s policy by an individual enployee of PHS. Wether
t he nedi cation was required nedication or convenience care in
this single instance was a deci sion made by an enpl oyee of PHS,
not a w despread PHS policy. Although the clains against the
i ndi vi dual enpl oyees may have nerit, PHS cannot be exposed to
[iability under 8 1983 sol ely because of its enpl oyees
i ndependent acti ons.

Furthernore, Plaintiff has not provided sufficient evidence



from which an inference can be drawn that PHS failed to act

agai nst a general policy of the Gty of Philadelphia that fails
to provide prescribed nmedication to prisoners with serious

medi cal needs. G ven that the Plaintiff has not net his burden
of establishing a policy or customattributable to PHS, PHS

Motion for Summary Judgnent nust be granted.



I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVANI A
AARON W LLI ANB,
Plaintiff, : ClVIL ACTI ON
Vs, : No. 09- cv- 0781
GUARD BRYANT FI ELDS, BARRY JONES,
SERGEANT COATES, GUARD HUGHES,
O/ O LACKEY, LOU S G ORLA,
PRI SON HEALTH SERVI CES, and
G TY OF PH LADELPHI A

Def endant s.

ORDER
AND NOW this 27t h day of Qctober, 2009, upon
consi deration of Defendant's Mtion for Summary Judgnent (Doc.
No. 20), Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant’s Mtion for Summary
Judgnent (Doc. No. 26), and Defendant’s reply thereto (Doc. No.
29), for the reasons set forth in the attached Menorandum it is

her eby ORDERED that the Motion for Summary Judgnment i s GRANTED
BY TH S COURT:

s/J. Curtis Joyner

J. Curtis Joyner, J.
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